2003

John Holmes Construction, Inc., a Utah corporation, and Coulter and Smith, LTD., a Nevada corporation v. R.A. McKell Excavating, Inc., a Utah corporation, and Rick McKell, an individual : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this appeal under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (2002).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

First Issue: Did Judge Bohling err when he interpreted section 38-1-7(1)(a) & (b) of the Utah Code and determined McKell's work was either for "a residence," requiring McKell to record its lien within ninety (90) days after last furnishing labor, materials, equipment or services to the "residence," or that work on the Project ceased or was abandoned, requiring McKell to record its lien within ninety (90) days after cessation or abandonment of work on a project "not involving a residence as defined in Section 38-11-102", rather than "within 90 days from the date of final completion of the original contract not involving a residence" as plainly stated in the statute?

Standard of Review: Judge Bohling's ruling is subject to review under the correction of error standard. *Gerbich v. Numed, Inc.*, 977 P.2d 1205, 1207 (Utah 1999); *Orton v. Carter*, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998); *A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Aspen Constr.*, 47 P.3d 92, 94 (Utah Ct. App. 2002) *cert. granted*, 59 P.3d 603 (Utah 2002); *Coulter & Smith v. Russell*, 976 P.2d 1218, 1221 (Utah Ct. App. 1999); *Winters v. Schulman*, 977 P.2d 1218, 1221 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). "In the case of a summary judgment the party against whom the judgment has been granted is entitled to have all the facts presented and all the inferences fairly arising therefrom considered in a light most favorable to him." *Young v. Texas Co.*, 331 P.2d 1099, 1100 (Utah 1958).

Second Issue: Did Judge Bohling err when he ruled as a matter of law that McKell's unjust enrichment claim against Holmes was barred by the existence of an express contract, where McKell furnished labor, material, equipment or services to adjoining subdivisions (one of which was developed by Holmes) under a written contract with Husting Land & Development, Inc. and Eagle Pointe Financial, but where McKell had no express contract with Holmes?

Standard of Review: The issue of unjust enrichment is a mixed question of law and fact. Judge Bohling's legal findings are reviewed for correctness; the trial court is granted broad discretion in applying the law to the facts. *Desert Miriah, Inc. v. B & L Auto, Inc.*, 12 P.3d 580 (Utah 2000); *Jeffs v. Stubbs*, 970 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1998), *cert. denied*, 526 U.S. 1130 (1999). "In the case of a summary judgment the party against whom the judgment has been granted is entitled to have all the facts presented and all the inferences fairly arising therefrom considered in a light most favorable to him." *Young v. Texas Co.*, 331 P.2d 1099, 1100 (Utah 1958).

Third Issue: As the successful parties under Utah Code Ann. §§ 38-1-1, *et seq.*, Holmes filed a Motion for Award of Attorney's Fees. The issue for review is whether the amount of attorney's fees awarded by Judge Bohling (\$25,000 out of a total request of \$30,447) was proper?

Standard of Review: Judge Bohling's ruling is subject to review under the abuse of discretion standard. *Pennington v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 973 P.2d 932 (Utah 1998); *Baldwin v. Burton*, 850 P.2d 1188 (Utah 1993); *J.V. Hatch Constr., Inc. v. Kampros*, 971 P.2d 8 (Utah Ct. App. 1998).

#### **DETERMINATIVE STATUTES**

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-3):

Contractors, subcontractors, and all persons performing any services or furnishing or renting any materials or equipment used in the construction, alteration, or

improvement of any building or structure or improvement to any premises in any manner ... shall have a lien upon the property upon or concerning which they have rendered service, performed labor, or furnished or rented materials or equipment for the value of the service rendered, labor performed, or materials or equipment furnished or rented by each respectively, whether at the instance of the owner or of any other person acting by his authority as agent, contractor, or otherwise...

(emphasis added).

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(1)(a) & (b) (2002) (excerpted here; included verbatim in the Addendum):

(1) A person claiming benefits under this chapter shall file for record ... a written notice to hold and claim a lien within 90 days from the date:

(a) the person last performed labor or service or last furnished equipment or material on a project or improvement for a residence as defined in Section 38- 11-102; or

(b) of final completion of an original contract not involving a residence as defined in Section 38-11-102.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-102 (2) (2002): “Construction on an owner-occupied residence” means designing, engineering, constructing, altering, remodeling, improving, repairing, or maintaining a new or existing residence.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-102 (15) (2002): “Owner” means a person who:

(a) contracts with a person who is licensed as a contractor or is exempt from licensure under Title 58, Chapter 55, Utah Construction Trades Licensing Act, for the construction on an owner-occupied residence upon real property owned by that person;

(b) contracts with a real estate developer to buy a residence upon completion of the construction on the owner-occupied residence; or

(c) buys a residence from a real estate developer after completion of the construction on the owner-occupied residence.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-102 (16) (2002): “Owner-occupied residence” means a residence that is, or after completion of the construction on the residence will be, occupied by the

owner or the owner's tenant or lessee as a primary or secondary residence within 180 days from the date of the completion of the construction on the residence.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-102 (19) (2002): "Real estate developer" means a person having an ownership interest in real property who contracts for the construction of a residence that is offered for sale to the public.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-102 (20) (2002): "Residence" means an improvement to real property used or occupied, to be used or occupied as, or in conjunction with, a primary or secondary detached single-family dwelling or multifamily dwelling up to two units, including factory built housing.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-107 (2002):

(1) A person qualified to file a lien upon an owner-occupied residence and the real property associated with that residence under the provisions of Title 38, Chapter 1, Mechanics' Liens, who provides qualified services under an agreement effective on or after January 1, 1995, other than directly with the owner, shall be barred after January 1, 1995, from maintaining a lien upon that residence and real property or recovering a judgment in any civil action against the owner or the owner-occupied residence to recover monies owed for qualified services provided by that person if:

(a) the conditions described in Subsections 38-11-204(3)(a) and (3)(b) are met; or

(b) (i) a subsequent owner purchases a residence from an owner;

(ii) the subsequent owner who purchased the residence under Subsection (1)(b)(i) occupies the residence as a primary or secondary residence within 180 days from the date of transfer or the residence is occupied by the subsequent owner's tenant or lessee as a primary or secondary residence within 180 days from the date of transfer; and

(iii) the owner from whom the subsequent owner purchased the residence met the conditions described in Subsections 38-11-204(3)(a) and (3)(b).

(2) If a residence is constructed under conditions that do not meet all of the provisions of Subsection (1), that residence and the real property associated with that residence as defined in Section 38-1-4, shall be subject to any mechanics' lien as provided in Section 38-1-3.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **I. Nature, Proceedings and Disposition Below.**

This case involves a contractor's right to recover from a developer for the reasonable value of furnishing infrastructure improvements (sewer, water, curb, gutter, and roadway) for a residential subdivision. Two developers, Hustings and Holmes and Coulter & Smith, sometimes referred to as Holmes/Mesa<sup>1</sup> ("Holmes" or "Developers") owned adjacent parcels of land in Draper, Utah which each intended to develop as a residential subdivision. Access to Hustings' parcel (Galena Hills) was through Holmes and Coulter & Smith's parcel (Parkway Estates). Consequently, the developers entered into an Adjoining Subdivision Agreement in which they agreed Hustings would contract for the infrastructure improvements for both parcels and be reimbursed pro rata for the cost of improvements furnished for the Holmes' parcel. Hustings terminated the original infrastructure contractor, Construct Tech, and after filing a Chapter 11 bankruptcy petition, contracted with McKell for the improvements. McKell installed improvements for both parcels and sought approval of the bankruptcy court to be paid as an administrative expense, but was denied. At the same time, the bankruptcy Trustee sought approval to complete Hustings' development plans, including Hustings' obligations under the Adjoining Subdivision Agreement. The bankruptcy court authorized the Trustee to contract with Eagle Pointe Financial to complete the subdivision, and Eagle Pointe subsequently contracted with McKell to complete the work. Holmes filed an adversary proceeding against the Trustee which was ultimately settled. Holmes sold the parcel to the City of Draper. McKell now seeks recovery for the reasonable value of the infrastructure work installed on the Holmes parcel.

---

<sup>1</sup> Coulter & Smith is the successor in interest to Mesa Development, Inc. (Record 253, ¶4).

McKell's counterclaim in this action seeks recovery for the reasonable value of labor, materials, equipment, and services comprising the culinary and sanitary water system, curb and gutter, storm drain, road base and asphalt McKell furnished to Holmes for the Parkway Estates Subdivision project. McKell asserted two claims for relief. First, the right to recover under the equitable theory of unjust enrichment. Second, the right to foreclose the mechanic's lien McKell recorded against the subdivision on June 7, 2000. (Record 28 – 49).

On November 13, 2000, Holmes filed a complaint against McKell seeking the removal of the mechanic's lien, alleging the lien slandered title to the subdivision, and seeking damages for tortious interference with the prospective economic relationship between Holmes and potential buyers of the subdivision. (Record 1 – 17). On December 8, 2000, McKell answered and counterclaimed. (Record 28 – 49). The Developers replied on December 21, 2000. (Record 50 – 58). Developers filed their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, supporting memorandum and affidavits on May 20, 2002. (Record 99 -255). McKell filed a memorandum in opposition with supporting affidavits on June 5, 2002. (Record 256 – 317). Developers replied on June 21, 2002. (Record 318 – 333). The court heard argument on August 12, 2002 and granted the motion. (Record 340).

Judge Bohling's Order Granting Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was entered on October 9, 2002. (Record 364 – 366). The court did not articulate any Findings of Fact supporting its ruling, but did reach the legal conclusion that "Defendants failed to record the Notice of Claim of Lien within the time period set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(1)(a) and (b) and that Defendant's *quantum meruit* claim fails as a matter of law because of the existence of an express contract." (*Id.* at 365). McKell contests those conclusions.

On April 25, 2003, Developers filed their Motion for an Award of Attorney's Fees with supporting memorandum and joint affidavit, seeking to recover \$30,447.00 pursuant to Utah's mechanic's lien statute, Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18. (Record 372 – 397). On May 20, 2003, McKell filed its memorandum in opposition. (Record 399 – 407). Developers replied on May 28, 2003. (Record 408 – 414). The court heard argument on the motion on July 14, 2003, and granted the motion, but reduced the amount of reimbursable fees to \$25,000. (Record 420). The court entered its Order Granting Motion for Award of Attorney's Fees on August 5, 2003. (Record 426 – 427). McKell believes the fee award is excessive notwithstanding the reduction ordered by the court.

The court entered a Final Judgment on August 6, 2003 (Record 423 – 425), the parties having stipulated to dismiss Holmes' remaining claims (Record 418 – 419) and the court having entered its Order Dismissing Second and Third Claims for Relief in Plaintiffs' Complaint on July 14, 2003. (Record 421 – 422). McKell filed its Notice of Appeal on August 27, 2003 (Record 437 – 439), and its Amended Notice of Appeal on September 3, 2003 (Record 446 – 448).

## **II. Statement of Facts.**

1. Husting Land & Development was incorporated in 1994 for the purpose of developing a sixty-one acre, three-phase, sixty-nine lot residential subdivision in Draper, Utah, commonly known as Galena Hills.

Adjacent to Galena Hills was another subdivision development project, Parkway Estates, owned by John Holmes Construction, Inc. and Holmes Mesa Construction, Inc. (Holmes Mesa). Because Galena Hills required access through the Parkway Estates property, and Galena Hills and Parkway Estates shared common areas and roadways, it was necessary to install certain improvements and utilities that would benefit both subdivisions. Thus, Husting and Holmes Mesa entered into an Adjoining Subdivisions Agreement in which Husting agreed to complete certain improvements on Parkway Estates, and Holmes Mesa agreed to reimburse Husting on a pro rata basis for its construction expenses. The Adjoining Subdivisions Agreement provided that reimbursement funds would not be paid to Husting until twenty-four months after final inspection and approval of construction by various municipalities, and then only if certain other conditions were met.

(Record 148-149).

2. Following are excerpts from and summaries of provisions from the Adjoining Subdivisions Agreement (it is reproduced verbatim in the Addendum):

“There are aspects of the development of each subdivision that are common to and shared by both Galena and Parkway. These common characteristics include contribution and development of common areas, installation of utilities to the benefit of both subdivisions, and development of common roadways.”

“By this Agreement, the parties intend to agree upon the allocation of costs and responsibilities associated with these matters of common concern.”

The following costs would be borne equally (50/50) by HLD/Apache and Holmes/Mesa: (1) Sewer Line installed from the trunk line across county land within a 15 foot easement granted by the county...(2) Entrance landscaping, improvements, and signage at the intersection of Galena Park Boulevard and 12300 South Street.

The following costs would be borne 65/35 by HLD/Apache and Holmes/Mesa, respectively: (1) Impact fee to Draper. (2) Costs of improvement of private 20-foot lane ... utility stubs, fencing along railroad tracks, re-routing of irrigation



system within the common area and under Galena Park Blvd. and other improvements as required by Draper. (3) "Because Galena Park Boulevard services and benefits both subdivisions, the parties agree to split the following costs on a 65/35" between HLD/Apache and Holmes Mesa, respectively: (a) full costs of land, surface and underground improvements for curb, gutter, sidewalk, excavation, asphalt, electric power, gas, telephone, and TV cables and storm drain on both sides of Galena Park Blvd. from 12300 South to the north line – extended- of Lot 36 Parkway; and (b) full costs of land, surface and underground improvements for only the east one-half of Galena Park Blvd. along the frontage of the common area south from the north line of Lot 36, to the north lot line of Lot 1 Parkway; (c) one-half the cost of the sewer, water and utility stubs from 12300 South to the north lot line of Lot 1 Parkway...(e) "Except for the items referred to above, Holmes/Mesa shall be responsible to reimburse HLD/Apache for the actual costs for the development of all other portions of Galena Park Blvd. situated within the Parkway Subdivision, including the surface and subsurface improvements. The estimated cost for these improvements is \$200,000.00...(4) Improvements at 12300 South as required by Draper City and UDOT to include removal of trees, relocation of utility poles, lines and water meters, removal of shed and concrete pad, widening of the pavement, installation of fence, and installation of curb, gutter and sidewalks on the south side of the road shall be paid 65% by HLD/Apache and 35% by Holmes/Mesa...(5) Alterations or improvements to Galena Canal and any storm drain line from Galena Canal to Jordan River Canal required by Draper shall be paid 65% by HLD/Apache and 35% by Holmes/Mesa.

HLD/Apache shall have lien rights on the first phase of the Parkway Estates Subdivision which shall secure the payments owed from Holmes/Mesa to HLD/Apache for the improvements.

Successors and assigns bound by the Agreement.

(Record 301-310).

3. Husting and Construct Tech entered into a Development Agreement in February 1996 in which Construct Tech agreed to furnish the infrastructure for the Galena Hills and Parkway Estates subdivision projects. (Record 149).

4. Husting terminated Construct Tech because of late and defective work in November 1996. (Record 150).

5. Husting filed a Chapter 11 bankruptcy case on January 14, 1997, and continued to operate as a debtor in possession. (Record 150).

6. In April 1997, Husting contracted with McKell to remediate and repair Construct Tech's defective work and to complete the project, including work on the Parkway Estates property, on a time and materials basis. Specifically, "[McKell] agreed to correct the defective work performed pre-petition by Construct Tech and to complete the remaining work on Phase II of the Galena Hills and Parkway Estates projects on a time and materials basis." (Record 150-151) (emphasis added).

7. McKell started work on June 30, 1997. (Record 193).

8. "Prior to entering into the Construction Agreement, [McKell] was aware that Husting had filed for relief under Chapter 11 and understood that the only present sources of payment for its work was the approximate \$612,000 in the Escrow Accounts established pursuant to the bonds with Draper City and the Salt Lake County Sewer District. However, ... [Husting] also led McKell to believe that other sources of payment existed, including the Adjoining Subdivisions Agreement, and funds from Castle Homes, L.L.C., a third-party investor that purportedly intended to purchase and build homes on the lots once the underground and surface improvements had been completed by [McKell]..." (Record 151).

9. After starting work, McKell met with Nathan Coulter, President of Coulter & Smith, at least twice. The purpose of the meetings was for Coulter to indicate the location of water and sewer laterals on Parkway Estates lots accessed by Galena Park Boulevard, and to make sure McKell Excavating stubbed in sewer and water mains to future streets in Parkway Estates. Coulter also asked for a bid to complete a cul-de-sac off Galena Park Boulevard and to complete a subsequent phase of Parkway Estates. McKell Excavating installed the water and sewer lines off Galena Park Boulevard and installed the sewer and water mains for future streets

in Parkway Estates. All of this work was inspected and accepted by the Salt Lake County Sewer Improvement District and Draper City. (Record 314, ¶ 3).

10. Holmes knew McKell was performing work on the Parkway Estates project in 1997 because on October 2, 1997, McKell met with Holmes and was told “that the Project was going to be bought out and that Castle Homes would assume liability for payment of McKell’s invoices...” (Record 131, ¶16).

11. “Shortly after RAM began working on the Galena Hills and Parkway Estates projects, it became apparent that neither McKell nor Husting had realized the scope of corrective work that would have to be done. Indeed, rather than simply correcting Construct Tech’s deficiencies, most of the culinary and sanitary water lines and systems previously installed had to be completely removed and replaced...in November of 1997, RAM ceased performing under the Construction Agreement because Husting and/or third parties had failed to pay past-due invoices and because further payment or funding from the Escrow Accounts, the Adjoining Subdivisions Agreement and third-party investors appeared unlikely to materialize in the near future...RAM invoiced \$969,633.08 to Husting for materials and labor supplied for performing corrective work and making improvements to the Galena Hills and Parkway Estates projects.” (Record 152) (emphasis added).

12. On November 4, 1997, McKell stopped work because of non-payment. (Record 152).

13. “...a substantial part of [McKell’s] work was performed on property owned by Holmes Mesa to satisfy Husting’s obligations under the pre-petition Adjoining Subdivisions Agreement.” (Record 163) (emphasis added).

14. On January 20, 1998, F. Wayne Elggren was appointed Trustee. (Record 153).

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