2003

John Holmes Construction, Inc. v. R.A. McKell Excavating, Inc., a Utah corporation and Rick McKell, an individual : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

McKell also failed to file an action to enforce its lien within 180 days from the date it last supplied labor and material on a project or improvement for a residence as defined in section 38-11-102, as required by section 38-1-11.

Next, the record does not support a claim for *quantum meruit* under either branch of the equitable doctrine. McKell performed its work under the 1997 Construction Agreement with Husting. Even though McKell may not have been paid, McKell has no equitable claim against Holmes and Coulter. McKell failed to exhaust its legal remedies and, even if McKell's work benefited Parkway Estates, Holmes and Coulter never made use of the benefit. Importantly, Holmes and Coulter never requested McKell's construction services and neither company ever agreed to pay McKell for its work.

Finally, the district court did not abuse its discretion in awarding attorney's fees under the mechanic's lien statute, Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18. The record was

well documented and the district court made appropriate findings in making its award of fees.

ARGUMENT

I

MCKELL'S NOTICE OF LIEN WAS NOT TIMELY UNDER EITHER SUBPART OF THE MECHANIC'S LIEN STATUTE

McKell's mechanic's lien is invalid as a matter of law because McKell did not record its Notice of Lien, or sue to enforce its lien, within the time required by Utah law. The Utah statute governing mechanic's liens limits the time in which a person may record a mechanic's lien to no later than 90 days from either the date of last work performed in the case of a project or improvement for a residence, or 90 days from final completion of an original contract in a case not involving a residence. The relevant statute reads:

A person claiming benefits under this chapter shall file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property, or some part of the property, is situated, a written notice to hold and claim a lien within 90 days from the date:

- (a) the person last performed labor or service or last furnished equipment or material on a project or improvement for a residence as defined in Section 38-11-102; or
- (b) of final completion of an original contract not involving a residence as defined in Section 38-11-102.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(1)(a), (b) (2000).

Whether the time for recording McKell's lien is measured under subpart (a) for a project or improvement for a "residence", or under subpart (b) for final completion of an original contract not involving a residence, McKell's lien was untimely.

A. This Was A Project or Improvement For A Residence

Because the labor, equipment and material that McKell provided was on a project or improvement for a residence as defined in section 38-11-102, the lien had to be recorded within 90 days from the last date of work. Even if McKell is given the benefit of the inaccurate statement in its Notice of Lien that its last work was performed on January 26, 2000, the lien had to be recorded by April 26, 2000. Instead, McKell recorded its lien on June 7, 2000. It was clearly out of time.

McKell argues that when section 38-1-7 is "read in conjunction with the Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act", Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-101, *et seq.*, it is apparent that subpart (1)(a) of section 38-1-7 is inapplicable to McKell's lien. Frankly, McKell's argument is difficult to understand and a close reading of Senate Bill 87 (included in McKell's Addendum) reveals that McKell's argument has no support.

When the Utah legislature enacted Senate Bill No. 87 titled "Mechanics' Lien and Bonding Amendments" during the 1994 legislative session, it made

amendments to the mechanic's lien statute, Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-1 *et. seq.*.

Specifically, section 38-1-7(1) was amended as follows:

Recording – Service on owner of property.

(1) ~~[Each contractor or other person who claims the benefit of]~~ A person claiming benefits under this chapter shall within ~~[80]~~ 90 days ~~[after substantial completion of the project or improvement shall]~~ from the date the person last performed labor or service or last furnished equipment or material on a project or improvement file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property, or some part of the property, is situated, a written notice to hold and claim a lien.

In the same Senate Bill No. 87, the legislature enacted Chapter 11 of Title 38 naming it the “Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act” (the “Act”). The purpose of the Act we are told, is to protect homeowners who build “owner-occupied residences” from subcontractors’ mechanic’s liens when the homeowner has already paid his general contractor. The Act contains separate definitions for a “residence”⁶ and an “owner-occupied residence”⁷ and it is owner-occupied residences that are protected by the Act. When Senate Bill 87 was passed

⁶ “Residence” means an improvement to real property used or occupied, to be used or occupied as, or in conjunction with, a primary or secondary detached single-family dwelling or multifamily dwelling up to two units. Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-102(18)(2000).

⁷ “Owner-occupied residence” means a residence that is, or after completion of the construction on the residence will be, occupied by the owner or the owner’s tenant or lessee as a primary or secondary residence within 180 days from the date of the completion of the construction on the residence. Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-102(14)(2000).

there was no distinction made between, and no amendment to section 38-1-7 to account for, liens recorded against residential, owner-occupied residential and non-residential property. All mechanic's liens were given the same treatment and each had to be recorded within 90 days from the last date of work. While McKell places great emphasis in its brief on the legislative debate surrounding the 1994 enactment of the Act and its purposes, there was clearly no intention when the Act was passed to tie the time limits for recording mechanic's liens in section 38-1-7 with any purposes of the Act.

In 1995 the legislature again amended section 38-1-7, this time forming subsections (1)(a) and (1)(b), making a distinction between the filing periods for residential and non-residential liens. 1995 Utah Laws Ch. 172 (S.B. 115)(included in McKell's Addendum). In new section 38-1-7(1)(a), the legislature borrowed the definition of "residence" from the Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act that had passed the year before. If the legislature had intended to relate section 38-1-7(1)(a) to the purposes of the Act as McKell suggests, the legislature could just as easily have distinguished the two filing periods in subparts (1)(a) and (1)(b) according to whether the lien related to a project or improvement for an owner-occupied residence as defined in the Act, and the final completion of a contract not involving an owner-occupied residence as defined in the Act. The legislature chose not to do this and section 38-1-7(1)(a) means what it

unambiguously says: If the lien is for a project or improvement for a “residence” as defined in section 38-11-102, the lien must be recorded within 90 days from the last date of work.

The issue before the district court, and now before this court, is whether McKell’s work to install the infrastructure improvements for a residential subdivision is a “project or improvement for a residence.” We believe the question is answered by *First of Denver Mortgage Investors v. C.N. Zundel*, 600 P.2d 521 (Utah 1979), where the Court decided that the installation of the sewer and water system in a residential subdivision is lienable work because it improves the actual homes by making them habitable. The similar work McKell claimed for its lien was certainly a project or improvement for a residence.

B. The 1999 Construction Agreement With Eagle Pointe To Develop Only Galena Hills Is Not The Original Contract That Is The Basis For McKell’s Lien

If McKell’s lien is not invalid because McKell failed to record its lien within 90 days of its date of last work under section 38-1-7(1)(a), its lien is invalid because McKell failed to record its lien within 90 days of final completion of an original contract under section 38-1-7(1)(b).

The 1997 Construction Agreement was the “original contract” that was finally completed on November 4, 1997, when McKell “ceased work on the project”.

According to McKell's admission at the summary judgment hearing, all of the work McKell lienied was performed in 1997, obviously under the 1997 Construction Agreement. The separate 1999 Construction Agreement cannot make timely the June 2000 filing of the Notice of Lien for the work McKell performed in 1997.

For 22 months, from November 1997 until September 1999, no work occurred at Galena Hills. Husting's bankruptcy trustee was eventually authorized in September 1999 to borrow money from Eagle Pointe Financial to complete the "Project", which was a defined term in the bankruptcy court's order meaning "the organized undertaking to develop the Debtor's (i.e., Husting's) real property." Eagle Point Financial's loan was secured by Husting's real property and the loan was to be repaid as the Galena Hills lots were sold. Having secured the means to pay for the work, the trustee's agent then hired McKell to complete Galena Hills under the terms of the 1999 Construction Agreement. There was no mechanism in the bankruptcy court's authorization to recoup any expenses for any work on Parkway Estates and having previously experienced the power of the bankruptcy court to deny payment for work that was not authorized, McKell was hardly going to do any more work on Parkway Estates. McKell proceeded to put in the permanent roadway along Galena Park Boulevard to provide access to Galena Hills without installing a single curb cut leading to Parkway Estates. The fact that

McKell was paid with court approved financing for all of its work under its 1999 Construction Agreement with Eagle Point is a clear admission that McKell stuck to developing Galena Hills and nothing more.

To be valid, McKell's lien had to be filed no later than 90 days after "completion of an original contract". Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(1)(b).

Termination or a lengthy suspension of work under a contract is "completion" of the contract for purposes of determining the commencement of a time period under a mechanic's lien statute.

In *Roberts v. Hansen*, 25 Utah 2d 190, 279 P.2d 345 (1971), a property owner hired a contractor to build a home. The owner dismissed the contractor after a dispute arose. The dismissed contractor filed a mechanic's lien against the property. The issue before the court was what constituted "completion of an original contract" from which the period for commencing an action to enforce a mechanic's lien begins to run. The Utah Supreme Court held that the "completion of an original contract" that triggered the filing period occurred on the date the contractor was dismissed. 479 P.2d at 346-347. *See also Govert Copier Painting v. Van Leeuwen*, 801 P.2d 163, 173 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (12 month period of § 38-1-11 for commencing action to enforce lien after completion of original contract ran from date contractor stopped work where contractor left work for others to complete).

Applying the rationale of *Roberts*, the completion of an original contract for the 1997 Construction Agreement occurred when McKell ceased work on the project on November 4, 1997, and any mechanic's lien had to be recorded within 90 days thereafter.

Furthermore, the section of the mechanic's lien statute that provides for the priority of a lien to relate back to earlier work on the same improvement (Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-5) only applies when the work has been performed "without material abandonment." *Calder Bros. Co. v. Anderson*, 652 P.2d 922, 924 (Utah 1982). There must be "a continuity of purpose such that a reasonable observer of the site would be on notice that work was underway for which a lien could be claimed." *Nu-trend Electric, Inc. v. Deseret Federal Savings and Loan Association, Inc.*, 786 P.2d 1369, 1371 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). "The question is primarily one of notice" *Id.* David George and Nathan Coulter both swore that there was no observable work during the 22 month period and their statements were uncontroverted. George Aff. ¶ 7, R. 248; Coulter Aff. ¶ 8, R. 252.

McKell's Notice of Lien admits that the 1999 Construction Agreement has no bearing on McKell's lien claim. The notice states that McKell was "employed by and did provide contracting services . . . at the request of Husting Land and Development, Inc.". Any opportunity Husting ever had to request McKell's

services occurred before the Chapter 11 trustee was appointed and well before the court authorized the 1999 Construction Agreement with Eagle Pointe.

C. McKell Never Filed An Action To Enforce Its Lien Within 180 Days

Even though McKell's failure to timely record its lien pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §38-1-7(1) is enough to doom the lien, McKell also failed to file an action to enforce its lien within the time limit set by the statute. According to Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(b), McKell had 180 days to sue after its last work was performed.

The statute reads:

A lien claimant shall file an action to enforce the lien filed under this chapter within:

....

(b) 180 days from the date the lien claimant last performed labor and services or last furnished equipment or material for a residence, as defined in section 38-11-102.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(b).

McKell's Notice of Lien inaccurately states that McKell's services, labor or materials were last provided on January 26, 2000. We know from the admission of McKell's counsel that the last date of work was actually in November 1997, but even if McKell is given the benefit of last date of work in the Notice of Lien, McKell still failed to sue in time. Based on the statement in the Notice of Lien, McKell should have filed its action to enforce its lien within 180 days of January 26, 2000, or in other words by July 25, 2000. The complaint was filed on

November 13, 2000, and McKell filed its answer and counterclaim on December 7, 2000. Clearly, McKell failed to comply with the statute and it has lost the right to enforce its lien. *See, Roberts v. Hansen, supra; Govert Copier Painting, supra.*

II

MCKELL DID NOT ESTABLISH A *QUANTUM MERUIT* CLAIM

Although the district court dismissed McKell's *quantum meruit* claim on the grounds that McKell was not entitled to equitable relief against Holmes and Coulter because McKell had an express contract with Husting, *see e.g., Davies v. Olson*, 746 P.2d 264 (Utah Ct. App. 1987)(holding that recovery under *quantum meruit* presupposes that no enforceable written or oral contract exists), "[a] party to an appeal does not have a constitutional right to have a cause of action decided on a particular ground." *Bailey, supra* (citing *DeBry v. Noble*, 889 P.2d 428, 444 (Utah 1995)). This Court can affirm the district court's ruling granting summary judgment if "if it is sustainable on any legal ground or theory apparent on the record, even though such ground or theory differs from that stated by the trial court to be the basis of its ruling or action, and this is true even though such ground or theory is not urged or argued on appeal by appellee, was not raised in the lower court, and was not considered or passed on by the lower court." *Bailey v. Bayles*, 2002 UT 58, ¶ 10, 52 P.3d 1158; *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 2001 UT 61, ¶ 18, 29 P.3d 1225 (quoting *Limb v. Federated Milk Producers Ass'n*, 23 Utah 2d 222, 225-26

n.2, 461 P.2d 290, 293 n.2 (1969); *see also Orton v. Carter*, 970 P.2d 1254, 1260 (Utah 1998) (applying Limb); 5 C.J.S. Appeal & Error § 714 (1993) ("Generally, the appellate court may affirm the judgment where it is correct on any legal ground or theory disclosed by the record, regardless of the ground, reason, or theory adopted by the trial court.").

A. McKell Failed To Exhaust His Legal Remedies. This Barred Any Claim For Quantum Meruit.

Before McKell was entitled to pursue a *quantum meruit* claim, McKell was required to first exhaust its legal remedies. *Knight v. Post*, 748 P.2d 1097, 1099 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). McKell's legal remedies included filing a mechanics lien. *Id.* However, McKell failed to perfect its mechanic's lien because it recorded the lien too late, and it failed to file an action to enforce the lien within the time allowed by law. This was a failure to exhaust McKell's legal remedies and it barred McKell from pursuing a *quantum meruit* claim. *Id.* This was precisely what occurred in *Knight v. Post* and it was dispositive of the *quantum meruit* claim.

B. Although A Failure To Exhaust Legal Remedies Is Dispositive, McKell Also Never Demonstrated The Necessary Elements For A Quantum Meruit Claim.

Although McKell's failure to exhaust its legal remedies is dispositive of its *quantum meruit* claim, McKell never met the requirements for a *quantum meruit* claim under Utah law and granting summary judgment was proper on that basis.

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